





Statement of Investment Principles

Statement of Investment Principles

Contents

	Page No
Introduction	3
Governance	3
High Level Investment Principles	4
Funds' Objectives	6
Fund Strategy	8
Strategy Implementation	8
Other Investment Considerations	9
Compliance	10
A	4.4
Appendix A - Investment Strategy 28 March 2024	11
Appendix B - Stewardship Statement	12
Appendix C - CIPFA Principles for investment decision making and disclosure	15

1. Introduction

- 1.1 This Statement of Investment Principles (SIP) was agreed by the Pensions Committee (Committee) of Fife Council (FC) on 20 June 2025 FC is the administering authority for the Fife Pension Fund (the Fund).
- 1.2 The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) (Scotland) Regulations 2010 require administering authorities to prepare, maintain and publish a SIP. The SIP must be reviewed from time to time and revised within six months of any material changes in the Policy.
- 1.3 In preparing this statement, the Committee has taken advice from officers who attend the Joint Investment Forum (**JIF**), which includes external advisers and members of the Lothian Pension Fund internal investment team who are FCA authorised individuals.
- 1.4 The SIP describes the objectives, policies and principles adopted by the Committee of FC in undertaking the investment of fund monies. The SIP also discloses the extent to which the Fund complies with the six "Myners Principles" of investment practice.
- 1.5 The SIP has been devised in conjunction with the Lothian and Falkirk Pension Funds as part of the three Funds' commitment to work collaboratively in order to achieve the efficiencies that come from scale investing.
- 1.6 The SIP should be read in conjunction with the Statement of Responsible Investment Principles (SRIP). The SRIP explains the Committee's approach to oversight and monitoring of investment activities from a Responsible Investment (RI) and Stewardship perspective. This covers the Committee's policy on the extent to which social, environmental or ethical considerations are taken into account in the selection, retention and realisation of investments; and the exercise of the rights (including voting rights) attaching to investments.

2. Governance

- 2.1 FC has delegated responsibility for the supervision of the Funds to the Committee, which comprises nine elected members from FC. The Committee is supported by a statutory Pensions Board consisting of four Trade Union and four employer representatives, which is responsible for ensuring that the Fund operates in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The Committee and Board are supported by an independent professional observer.
- 2.2 The Committee determines investment strategy based on proper advice from FC's Executive Director of Finance & Corporate Services. The Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services delegates this role to the Head of Finance taking advice from the JIF and other advisers as required.
- 2.3 Responsibility for implementing the strategy is also delegated to the Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services who delegates this role to the Head of Finance, taking advice from the JIF and external investment advisers. Day to day management of the Fund's assets is currently undertaken by external investment managers whose activities are governed by Investment Management Agreements and the limits set out in Scheme regulations. Some of the Fund's assets are managed via an Investment

- Management Agreement with LPFI Ltd the FCA authorised investment vehicle of Lothian Pension Fund.
- 2.4 The SIP forms part of a governance framework that includes Statutory Regulations, the Pensions Committee, the Pension Board, the Joint Investment Forum, the Funds' Advisers and the Funds' Funding Strategy Statement and Governance Compliance Statement.

3. High Level Investment Principles

The following principles agreed by the Committee are designed to guide the Funds' governance, strategies and alignment with their agents and to support consistency in decision-making over the long term.

Governance

- 3.1 Principle 1: Committee believes that their decisions, and those of officers, must give precedence to the fiduciary duty owed to members and employers. Fiduciary duty is paramount. The Pensions Committee recognises the potential conflicts of interests inherent in a local authority administering a multi-employer pension fund. The objectives of the administering authority, its officials and officers and those of the pension fund are not necessarily the same. The primary objective is to ensure sufficient funding in the long term so that retirement benefits that /employers promise to members under scheme rules can be paid when they fall due. (The legal view on fiduciary duty issued by the Scottish Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board is available at https://lgpsab.scot/fiduciary-duty-guidance/.)
- 3.2 Principle 2: Committee believes that the Fund should mitigate risk by ensuring alignment of interests wherever possible. Agency costs are high in the financial services industry agents are often motivated to act in their own best interests rather than those of the principal (the Fund). Alignment of interests and partnering with similarly aligned organisations will help to reduce risk and address the principal-agency problem to the benefit of the Fund and partners. External resources should, therefore, be used where internal resources cannot be justified or obtained, or where an external perspective provides additional skills or insight into investment matters, and where suitable alignment can be established.
- 3.3 Principle 3: Committee believes that it should work with like-minded partners to benefit from increased scale and greater resilience. There are significant economies of scale in the business of managing investments, so working with like-minded partners with similar long-term objectives and liabilities can achieve lower costs and reduce operational risks with increased resilience.
- 3.4 **Principle 4: Committee believes that cost transparency aids decision-making.** The asymmetric structure of incentives in financial markets (upside participation in success without downside participation in failure) encourages strategies that may benefit agents (external managers and other financial intermediaries) and be detrimental to investor (Fund) returns. Agents often present fees and other charges in a way that obscures rather than illuminates. Full cost transparency should aid decision-making and so benefit investment returns.
- 3.5 Principle 5: Committee believes it should focus on policy setting, including highlevel strategic asset allocation which defines risk and return objectives, with appropriate governance structure and oversight. Implementation of more granular

investment decisions (such as the selection/deselection of individual managers and investments) and regular monitoring should be delegated to suitably qualified and experienced individuals with sufficient time and other resources at their disposal. Appropriate delegation, constraints and reporting requirements should be in place. Reporting to Committee should focus on the long-term objectives of the Fund and how delegated decisions have contributed to these.

Funding

- 3.6 Principle 6: Given future uncertainties, the funding strategy should be prudent and should reduce risk to employers of another employer defaulting on its pension obligations. The Funding Strategy Statement expresses the funding objective, which informs the invested strategy options. The ultimate objective is to ensure long-term solvency so that retirement benefits employers promise to members under scheme rules can be paid when they fall due, so full funding should be achieved in a prudent manner to ensure that liquid assets are available at the required time. This is important for members, employers and taxpayers as the scheme is ultimately state backed.
- 3.7 Principle 7: Committee believes that the Fund should consider requests for different investment strategies from employers with different objectives. Employers have conflicting desires: on the one hand, they would like to minimise the fluctuations in contributions and on the other hand, they would like to minimise the overall amount of contributions. Employers may have different objectives, so they should be given the opportunity to request a bespoke investment strategy. The Fund should consider such requests, taking account of issues such as employer covenant and implementation costs.

Investments

- 3.8 Principle 8: Committee believes that the ability of the Fund to pay pension benefits when they fall due is more important than mark-to-market funding levels. Committee recognises that there are various ways to measure the value of promised benefits in a defined benefit scheme. Committee believes that where employer circumstances allow, investment strategy should focus on delivering strong (real) returns that grow to cover cashflows over the longer term rather than focusing on protecting the funding level in the short term.
- 3.9 Principle 9: Committee believes 'return-seeking' assets are likely to outperform 'risk-free' assets as the investment horizon lengthens, but this is not guaranteed. Time horizons matter a great deal. The appropriate horizon for investment risk-taking depends on the duration of the liabilities, the profile of projected cash flows and the deficit recovery and contingency plans for the scheme (the sponsor covenant).
- 3.10 Principle 10: Committee believes in owning a diversified portfolio of assets so that it is not overly exposed to any particular contingency. Asset diversification can reduce risk where assets are not perfectly correlated. Committee recognises that the future is unpredictable and that real returns from investments are uncertain. Fund returns will be determined primarily by the high-level investment strategy allocation to different policy groups and the timing of material changes. Asset allocation balances diversified risks with the expected additional returns for these risks.
- 3.11 Principle 11: Committee believes that responsible investment should reduce risk and may improve returns. The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) was designed with an important social purpose in mind the provision of retirement income

for individuals. The Fund's fiduciary duty means that the pursuit of financial return is its paramount concern, although it may also take purely non-financial considerations into account provided that doing so would not involve significant risk of financial detriment. Committee believes that the decisions to invest in, or divest from, a particular company should be made by an investment manager based on a holistic analysis of financially material issues, including environmental, climate change, social and governance issues. Committee agreed to a Statement of Responsible Investment Principles (SRIP) in September 2024.

- 3.12 Principle 12: Committee believes it should exercise its ownership rights in a responsible way, constructively engaging with companies to reduce risk. The Fund's interests are better protected from adverse impacts by collaborating with like-minded investors to have greater influence in engaging with companies, government and regulators. Engagement aims to encourage responsible behaviour by companies in relation to environmental, climate change, social and governance issues.
- 3.13 Principle 13: Committee believes that monitoring and assessment of investment success should be viewed on a long-term basis. No asset mix provides a stream of cash flows that perfectly matches the liability payments of the Fund as they fall due, so monitoring activity is complex. The Fund is long term in nature and the success of a given investment strategy is likely to ebb and flow with changing investment environments in an unpredictable way. Investment monitoring is challenging and should be viewed through a long-term lens.
- 3.14 Principle 14: Committee believes that peer group comparative analysis needs to be treated with care. No two pension funds are identical, so peer group analysis should be undertaken with care as different funds can hold different investment beliefs, objectives and return and risk appetites.

4. Funds' Objectives

- 4.1 The **primary objective** of the Fund is to ensure that there are sufficient funds available to meet all pension and lump sum liabilities as they fall due.
- 4.2 The **funding objectives** for the Fund are documented in the Committee's Funding Strategy Statement, which is reviewed at least triennially. The funding objectives, together with the rates of return being targeted and levels of risk to be tolerated, are central to the Fund's investment strategy and governs the allocation across various policy groups.
- 4.3 The **investment objectives** of the Fund are to achieve a return on Fund assets which is sufficient over the long term to meet the funding objectives as outlined in the Funding Strategy Statement. Investment returns are generated by a combination of income (from dividends, interest and rents) and gains or losses on capital.
- 4.4 In effect, the Fund's objectives are to generate sufficient long term returns to pay promised pensions and to make the scheme affordable to employers now and in the future, while minimising the risk of having to increase contribution rates in the future.
- 4.5 Committee has set the investment strategy with reference to the following policy groups, which classify assets into categories with similar risk and return characteristics. The policy groups condense the vast array of investment choices into a manageable number of investment groups and are detailed in the following table in descending order of return and risk:

Policy Group	Objective	Examples of Policy Group Assets
Equities	The principal driver of the Fund's growth, and in the long term, expected to outperform liabilities, albeit with periods of volatility.	Listed equities; private equities; forward currency contracts; and equity futures may also be permitted for hedging purposes only (eg during equity transition activity).
Real Assets	Positive real returns with an income stream, in some way, linked to inflation. Likely to deliver some diversification from equity returns.	Property; infrastructure; timberland; agriculture; commodities.
Credit	Assets likely to offer diversification from equity returns, strategic funding level protection and/or a superior yield to that available from, and where returns may have a positive correlation to, sovereign bonds.	Investment grade bonds; high yield bonds; loans; private credit; emerging market bonds.
Sovereigns	Assets likely to offer diversification from equity returns and strategic funding level protection by having interest rate and potentially inflation exposure that offsets exposures of the liabilities and so reduces the funding level variability.	Index linked gilts; nominal gilts; gilt futures; overseas sovereign bonds.
Cash	Liquidity function mostly avoiding credit and duration risks.	UK Treasury assets; overseas Treasury assets; local authority loans; bank or building society deposits (all short term).

- 4.6 As the returns of the above investments are not completely correlated, the Fund expects to achieve diversification and better risk-adjusted returns by investing in assets from each policy group.
- 4.7 In order to maximise the opportunities for collaborative investing, the policy groups set out in 4.5 match those used by the Lothian and Falkirk Pension Funds.

5. Fund Strategy

^{5.1} The Committee's agreed investment strategy (presented in Appendix A) is expressed in terms of allocations to various policy groups. These reference portfolios are

expected to generate the required return with a reasonable probability of success. The rate of return being targeted and the level of risk to be tolerated are central to the determination of the investment strategy (or asset mix) for the Fund.

- 5.2 The Committee monitors performance of the Fund relative to benchmarks, including asset benchmarks (presented at policy group level in Appendix A). Asset benchmarks are not a perfect match for the objectives of the Fund, nor the strategies that it employs. Correct interpretation of the reported data requires a good understanding that where the Fund invests in lower risk Equities than the benchmark, returns are likely to lag a strongly rising market but be better than benchmark when it experiences significant weakness. Real Assets and other private market assets lack good comparators, especially over the short and medium-term timeframes, and the current benchmark often deviates quite significantly from the slow re-valuation of private market assets. Other policy groups are less difficult to interpret but represent a smaller portion of the total fund.
- 5.3 There may also be demand from individual employers for other investment strategies for their section of the Fund. The Fund will consider such requests, subject to practical implementation of such strategies and, if appropriate, a review of employer contribution rates. It is not practical for the Fund to offer individual employers full flexibility on asset allocation.
- 5.4 The Fund's investment strategy is measured against strategy-specific benchmarks by an independent performance measurement specialist, and these are reported to Committee at least annually with reference to asset market returns as well as liability valuations. The Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services is responsible for monitoring investments and investment activity, and she delegates this function to the Head of Finance taking advice from the JIF, which meets at least quarterly.

6. Strategy Implementation

- 6.1 The Committee delegates implementation of strategy to the Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services, who delegates the role to the Head of Finance, taking advice from the Joint Investment Forum (JIF). The Head of Finance operates within the parameters agreed by the Committee, investing the Funds' assets in the policy groups within the permitted ranges.
- 6.2 The Head of Finance, advised by the JIF, identifies the combination of investment managers and mandates within the policy groups to deliver the objectives of the Fund. The investment managers and mandates are listed in Appendix B. The Fund employs external managers but also works collaboratively with the Lothian Fund in house investment team, which manages some assets through its FCA authorised vehicle, LPFI, in recognition of the cost and alignment advantages of doing so.
- 6.3 To reduce the risk that the investment objective is not met, controls are set around policy group allocations and each manager/mandate. These are detailed in formal Investment Management Agreements; and similarly, formal investment objectives and constraints are set for internal mandates where appropriate. The investment managers are responsible for the selection of individual holdings.
- 6.4 The Funds' investment managers and mandates are measured against mandatespecific benchmarks of risk and return by an independent performance measurement specialist. Performance and mandate implementation is monitored by the JIF on a quarterly basis.

6.5 The Fund will look to collaborate with other investors to benefit from increased scale and cost sharing arrangements.

7. Other Investment Considerations

Realisation of investments

7.1 Most of the Funds' investments are in liquid markets and can be expected to be sold relatively quickly if required. A proportion of the Funds' investments (such as property, private equity, private debt and infrastructure) have less or limited liquidity and would therefore take longer to be sold. The overall liquidity of the Fund's assets is considered in the light of potential demands for cash.

Stock Lending

7.2 The Fund lends a proportion of its investments to maximise income from share ownership. Stock lending is conducted within parameters prescribed in the regulations. Stock lending does not prevent any investments from being sold. Safeguards are in place to reduce risk of financial loss in the event of default. These safeguards include receiving liquid collateral in excess of the value of the loan, an indemnity agreement with the lending agent and regular reviews of the creditworthiness of potential borrowers.

Underwriting

7.3 Managers are permitted to underwrite and sub-underwrite stock issues subject to the security being deemed attractive on a medium-term view and subject to the application being limited to an amount the manager would wish to hold over the medium term.

Derivatives

7.4 The Committee has approved the use of derivatives, subject to prevailing legislation and control levels outlined in investment manager agreements. A derivative is a security or contract that derives its value from its relationship with another asset. The Fund may make use of contracts for differences and other derivatives either directly or in pooled funds investing in these products for efficient portfolio management or to hedge specific risks. For example, forward currency contracts allow the Funds to reduce risk from currency fluctuations and equity futures allow the Funds to reduce risk during major portfolio rebalances/transitions.

Voting and Engagement

7.5 The approach to exercising ownership rights attached to investments (including voting rights) is described in the SRIP.

Safekeeping of Assets

7.6 The services of a global custodian are employed to ensure the safekeeping of investments.

8. Compliance

Regulations and Investment Limits

8.1 The Fund is compliant with the statutory restrictions set out in the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) (Scotland) Regulations

2010 and the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2016.

The Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) (Scotland) Amendment regulations 2016 increased the limit for the LGPS fund contributions to all limited partnerships from 15% to 30%. The term "contributions" was not defined; therefore this is interpreted as capital at risk, which is equal to the sum of all invested capital paid in less the sum of all distributions received.

CIPFA Principles for Investment Decision Making

8.2 Regulations require administering authorities to publish the extent to which they comply with guidance issued by Scottish Ministers, which in turn refer to guidance issued by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA). The Funds' compliance statement is provided in Appendix C.

Review of SIP

8.3 The Committee reviews this statement on triennial basis or more frequently if appropriate. The Committee will consult with such persons as it considers appropriate and take proper advice when revising the statement.

Appendix A – Investment Strategy (28 March 2024)

FIFE PENSION FUND: INVESTMENT STRATEGY

Investment Objectives: generate returns and sufficient cash to pay pensions as they fall due.

Policy Group	Target Weight 2024 -27	Current Allocation (31 March 2025)	Permitted Range
Equities	50%	49%	40% - 60%
Real Assets	20%	24%	10% - 30%
Credit	13%	9%	5% - 25%
Sovereign	15%	16%	5% - 25%
Cash	2%	2%	0% - 15%
Total	100%	100%	100%

FIFE PENSION FUND: POLICY GROUP BENCHMARKS

Policy Group	Allocation	Benchmark (Strategic Policy Group level)
Equities	50%	MSCI ACWI (Dividends Reinvested Net of Withholding Tax) Risk Adjusted (0.9x)
Real Assets	20%	MSCI ACWI (Dividends Reinvested Net of Withholding Tax) Risk Adjusted (0.7x)
Non-Gilt Debt	15%	iBoxx £ IG credit +0.2% pa
LDI Investment	15%	FTSE Actuaries Gilts Index Linked TR> 15 year (FTRFILO)
Total Assets	100%	Weighted average Return of the Strategic Policy Group Weights Benchmark Indices

Appendix B – Stewardship Statement

The Stewardship Statement seeks to demonstrate how the Fund adheres to the seven principles of good stewardship as set out in the UK Stewardship Code 2012. It is noted that the Stewardship Code was updated and extended in 2020. Although the Fund is not a signatory to the revised Code, due to the resourcing and cost implications, it is supportive of its principles and will work towards extending its stewardship role towards compliance with the new Code.

Principle 1: Institutional investors should publicly disclose their policy on how they will discharge their stewardship responsibilities.

We acknowledge our role as an asset owner under the UK Stewardship Code and seek to hold to account our fund managers and service providers in respect of their commitments to the Code.

In practice, our policy is to apply the Code through the

- the appointment of a voting and engagement partner (currently Federated Hermes Equity Ownership Services (EOS));
- the work of external investment managers; and
- the work of the internal investment team

We believe that this combination enables us to provide the appropriate standards of stewardship on behalf of the beneficiaries of the Fund through their monitoring of shareholdings, so that we can fulfil our fiduciary responsibilities as long-term shareholders.

Engagement partners have the expertise to undertake corporate engagement on an international basis, and they do this for us. Their aim is to bring about positive long-term change at companies through a focused and value-oriented approach. Engagements undertaken by our current partner on our behalf are guided by the EOS <u>Engagement Policy</u>

Through the appointment of an engagement partner, we are kept informed of potential issues of concern at both individual companies and across the market as a whole, which leads to collaborative engagements in which the Fund participates.

The various external investment managers we utilise operate their own stewardship and engagement initiatives in relation to investee companies and provide regular reports on these issues. This information is made available to those responsible for the governance of the Fund.

Where investment management is undertaken by LPFI on behalf of the Fund, environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues are integrated within the LPFI investment decision making process together with direct engagement where feasible with investee companies.

Principle 2: Institutional investors should have a robust policy on managing conflicts of interest in relation to stewardship and this policy should be publicly disclosed.

The Fund's efforts to manage potential conflicts of interest can be summarised below:

 We are supported in effectively managing conflicts of interest in relation to our stewardship work by our engagement partner. Our current partner explains how it manages conflicts of interest on our behalf in its <u>Conflicts of interest policy (hermes-investment.com)</u>

- We also encourage the asset managers employed by the Fund to have effective policies addressing potential conflicts of interest.
- In respect of conflicts of interest within the Fund, Pensions Committee and Pension Board members are required to make declarations of interest prior to Committee meetings.
- Our policy of constructive engagement with companies is consistent with the Funds' fiduciary responsibilities.

Principle 3: Institutional investors should monitor their investee companies.

Day-to-day responsibility for monitoring our equity holdings is delegated to our engagement partner and External Fund Managers:

- We expect them to monitor companies, intervene where necessary, and report back regularly on activity.
- Activity will be reported on the Funds' website, including the number of company meetings at which the Fund has voted and how the Fund has voted.

In order to foster a positive working relationship with an individual company and to build trust, the engagement partner may be willing to become an "insider". In such circumstances, the relevant information will not be passed to FC until after it is no longer inside information.

Principle 4: Institutional investors should establish clear guidelines on when and how they will escalate their activities as a method of protecting and enhancing shareholder value.

As highlighted above, responsibility for interaction with companies is shared with the bulk of interventions being undertaken by the engagement partner and external managers. In general,

- We expect the approach to engagement on our behalf to be value-orientated and focused on long term sustainable profitability.
- The engagement partner monitors the activity of many of our investee companies and escalate engagement activity directly with them as required.
- Consistent with our fiduciary duty to beneficiaries and to encourage improved conduct in future, we consider participating in shareholder litigation where it appears likely that the Fund will recover losses (net of costs) sustained because of inappropriate actions by company directors.

Principle 5: Institutional investors should be willing to act collectively with other investors where appropriate.

We seek to work collaboratively with other institutional shareholders to maximise the influence that we can have on individual companies. We do this through:

 the appointment of an engagement partner (), whose engagement service pools asset ownership with the aim of protecting and enhancing shareholder value. The engagement partner represents us and other like-minded asset owners globally using its expertise to enhance our effectiveness in communicating with companies, industry bodies, regulators and legislators.

- Our preference is for managers to vote on the Funds' behalf and for responsible stewardship to be integral to the investment decision-making process. We are comfortable with delegation of voting to External Fund Managers for the funds they manage.
- For all other mandates, our partner votes consistently across the portfolios it covers, and makes voting decisions based on a thorough analysis of publicly available information and always taking account of a company's individual circumstances. The voting and engagement partner informs companies where it has concerns and seeks a resolution prior to taking the decision to vote against management. In this way, it uses our votes as a lever for positive change at companies. Underpinning voting decisions are EOS Corporate Governance policies, which can be found in the following link:

https://www.hermes-investment.com/uki/about-us/policies-and-disclosures/

We are committed to disclosing our historic voting information on our website. This
includes the total number of votes cast at which company meetings and whether the
votes were cast for or against company management. We will disclose in arrears so
that we are transparent and accountable but dialogue with companies in our portfolios
is not compromised.

Principle 6: Institutional investors should have a clear policy on voting and disclosure of voting activity,

- We seek to vote on all shares held and have appointed a voting partner (currently EOS) to exercise voting on our behalf in respect of active mandates held. EOS's voting policy is in accordance with their Global Voting Guidelines. The guidelines reference environmental, social and governance factors and aim to harness voting rights as an asset to help achieve positive engagement outcomes.
- The Fund retains the right to direct any voting partner or a manager in a particular way in respect of any corporate governance issue.

Principle 7: Institutional investors should report periodically on their stewardship and voting activities.

We are committed to report on our stewardship and voting activities:

- We are committed to reporting annually on stewardship and voting activity in the Funds' annual report and accounts and quarterly on our website.
- We are committed to also report annually on stewardship and voting activity directly to the Pensions Committee.

Appendix C – CIPFA Principles for investment decision making and disclosure

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) published six Principles for Investment Decision Making and Disclosure in the Local Governance Pension Scheme in the UK in 2012. Details of the principles and the Funds' compliance are described below.

Principle 1 – Effective decision making

Administering authorities should ensure that decisions are taken by persons or organisations with the skills, knowledge, advice and resources necessary to take them effectively and monitor their implementation. Those persons or organisations should have sufficient expertise to be able to evaluate and challenge the advice they receive and manage conflicts of interest.

- The Fund's Training Policy (Comprising a compulsory training seminar for all new members and a requirement to undertake no less than two days (14 hours) of training in each year for all Pensions Committee and Pension Board members) provides the knowledge to enable them to evaluate and challenge the advice they receive. Standards relating to the administration of the Committee's business are strictly upheld. Training Policy | Fife Pension Fund
- The Fund has appointed an Independent Professional Observer to strengthen governance. The role of the Observer is to provide the Committee and Pensions Board with an impartial, additional source of experience and technical knowledge.
- The Pensions Committee focuses on setting the strategy for the Fund and monitoring performance. The Pension Board also attends Committee meetings and is responsible for assisting the Committee in securing compliance with relevant regulations and other legislation.
- The Committee delegates the day-to-day running of the Fund to the Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services, who in turn delegates to the Head of Finance and Funds' officers. The Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services is responsible for the provision of training for Committee to help them to make effective decisions to ensure that they are fully aware of their statutory and fiduciary responsibilities, and to regularly remind them of their stewardship role.
- The Joint Investment Forum advises the Head of Finance on the implementation of the agreed strategies, reviewing structure, funding monitoring, performance and risk and asset allocation. The Joint Investment Forum meets at least quarterly and is made up of experienced investment professionals, including independent advisers.
- The in-house team undertakes day-to-day monitoring of the Fund. The team includes
 personnel with suitable professional qualifications and experience to provide the
 necessary skills, knowledge, advice and resources to support the Joint Investment
 Strategy Panel and the Pensions Committee.
- Conflicts of interest are managed actively. At each Committee meeting, elected
 members of the Pensions Committee and Pensions Board are asked to highlight
 declarations of interest. A Code of Conduct applies to members of the Committee and
 the Pension Board. The Fund ensures conflicts of interest are highlighted and
 managed appropriately.

 Conflicts of interest are also managed in each JIF meeting and dealt with as a standing item at the beginning of each meeting.

Principle 2 – Clear Objectives

Overall investment objectives should be set out for the fund that take account of the scheme's liabilities, the potential impact on local council tax payers, the strength of the covenant of the participating employers, and the attitude to risk of both the administering authority and the scheme employers, and these should be clearly communicated to advisers and investment managers.

- The Statement of Investment Principles and the Funding Strategy Statement define the Fund's primary funding objectives.
- Asset-liability modelling is undertaken with the help of external advisers to aid the understanding of risks and the setting of investment strategy.
- Employers' attitude to risk is specifically considered in the setting of strategy, and employers can request a bespoke investment strategy.
- Reviews of investment strategy focus on the split between broad policy groups (equities, gilts, other debt, other real assets and cash).
- Investment Management Agreements set clear benchmarks and risk parameters and include the requirement to comply with the Fund's Statement of Investment Principles.
- Appointments of advisers are reviewed regularly. Investment and actuarial advisers are appointed under separate contract. Procurement of advisers is conducted within European Union procurement regulations.
- The setting of the Funding Strategy includes specific consideration of the desire to maintain stability in employer contribution rates.

Principle 3 - Risk and liabilities

In setting and reviewing their investment strategy, administering authorities should take account of the form and structure of liabilities. These include the implications for council tax payers; the strength of the covenant of participating authorities; the risk of their default, and longevity risk.

- The Fund takes advice from the scheme's actuary regarding the nature of its liabilities.
 Asset-liability modelling is undertaken periodically to aid the setting of investment strategy, and these exercises specifically take account of covenant strength and longevity risk.
- The Fund will consider requests for such alternative strategies, subject to practical implementation of such strategies and, if appropriate, a review of employer contribution rates. It is not practical for the Fund to offer individual employers full flexibility on asset allocation.
- The Funding objectives for the Fund is expressed in relation to the solvency and employer contribution rates. The Fund regularly assess the covenants of participating employers.
- The Executive Director of Finance and Corporate Services is responsible for ensuring the appropriate controls of the Fund. Controls are subject to internal audit, and results of audits are submitted to the Pensions Committee.
- The Fund maintain a risk register, which is reviewed on a regular basis.

Principle 4 - Performance assessment

Arrangements should be in place for the formal measurement of the performance of the investments, investment managers and advisers. Administering authorities should also periodically make a formal policy assessment of their own effectiveness as a decision-making body and report on this to scheme members.

- The Fund's performance and risk analysis is produced by an independent external provider.
- The internal investment team monitors the external investment managers' performance and risk on a regular basis and reports this to the Joint Investment Forum. The Joint Investment Forum assesses the performance and risk of both internal and external investment managers on a regular basis (typically quarterly).
- The Fund's contracts with its advisers are regularly market tested.
- The Joint Investment Forum assesses its own performance on a regular basis and reports to Committee on its activities, typically annually.
- Training and attendance of members of the Pensions Committee and the Pensions Board are monitored and reported on a regular basis. The composition of the Committee and Pension Board is kept under review.

Principle 5 - Responsible ownership

Administering authorities should adopt, or ensure their investment managers adopt, the Institutional Shareholders' Committee Statement of Principles on the responsibilities of shareholders and agents.

A statement of the authority's policy on responsible ownership should be included in the Statement of Investment Principles.

Administering authorities should report periodically to members on the discharge of such responsibilities.

- The Fund's approach to responsible investment is described in the Statement of Investment Principles and the Statement of Responsible Investment, both of which can be found on the Fund's website.
- Details of the Fund's voting and engagements are available on the Fund's website. The
 Fund's annual report and accounts includes a summary of the Fund's approach to
 responsible investment. The full report is available on the website and is sent to
 members on request.

Principle 6 – Transparency and reporting

Administering authorities should act in a transparent manner, communicating with stakeholders on issues relating to their management of investment, its governance and risks, including performance against stated objectives; and provide regular communication to members in the form they consider most appropriate.

- Meetings of the Pensions Committee are open to the public. Members of the public are entitled to make a deputation at Committee meetings. Committee papers are available on the Fife Council website. The Pension Board joins the Committee at all meetings.
- The Committee's remit covers wider pension scheme issues, other than the management and investment of funds.
- The Fund's policy statements, including the Communications Strategy, Statement of Investment Principles, Statement of Responsible Investment Principles and Funding

Strategy Statement are maintained regularly. Stakeholders are consulted on changes. Documents are available on the Fund's website.

The Fund produces an Annual Report & Accounts. The full report is available on the
website and is sent to members on request. The Fund also produces an annual
newsletter for members as well as an annual benefit statement. Regular briefings are
provided to employers. The Fund's website is updated regularly.

Head of Finance Fife Council 20 June 2025

Alternative Formats

This information can be made available in large print, braille, audio CD/tape and Gaelic on request by calling **03451 55 55 00**.

British Sign Language – please text (SMS) 07781 480 185

BT Text Direct - 18001 01592 55 11 91

Language Lines

Arabic	خط هاتف اللغة العربية: 77 55 55 03451
Bengali	বাংলায় আলাপ করার জন্য টেলিফোন লাইন: 03451 55 55 99
Cantonese	中文語言熱線電話: 03451 55 55 88
Polish	Polskoj ezyczna linia telefoniczna: 03451 55 55 44
Urdu	اُردوز بان کے لیے ٹیلیفون نمبر 66 55 55 03451